O/a 9-9-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,934

FRENCHMAN, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATION, STATE OF  
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

FILED  
SID & WHITE  
APR 29 1986  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By: *pl*  
Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

GUNSTER, YOAKLEY, CRISER &  
STEWART, P.A.  
777 So. Flagler Dr., Suite 500  
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-6194  
(305) 650-0573  
Attorneys for Petitioner  
Frenchman, Inc.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. IS A LANDOWNER ENTITLED IN AN EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDING TO RECEIVE FULL COMPENSATION FOR DAMAGES TO ITS REMAINDER PROPERTY BY EMPLOYING A COST TO CURE METHOD IN MEASURING THOSE DAMAGES WITHOUT THE NECESSITY OF FIRST PRESENTING EVIDENCE SHOWING THE REDUCTION IN VALUE OF THE REMAINDER PROPERTY THROUGH COMPARISON OF THE BEFORE AND AFTER TAKING FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE PROPERTY: A) WHEN THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT THE TAKING OF THE PROPERTY INVOLVED WAS UNIQUE, B) WHEN THE EVIDENCE FURTHER SHOWS THAT THE REMAINDER PROPERTY HAS BEEN DAMAGED BY THE TAKING, AND C) WHEN THE AWARD OF SUCH COST TO CURE DAMAGES DOES NOT ENHANCE THE VALUE OF THE REMAINDER PROPERTY SUBSEQUENT TO THE TAKING?

II. WAS FRENCHMAN ENTITLED TO RECOVER DAMAGES TO ITS REMAINDER PROPERTY FOR LOSS OF VIEW, PRIVACY, SECLUSION AND AESTHETICS CAUSED BY THE TAKING?

III. IS A LAND OWNER ENTITLED TO BE COMPENSATED FOR DRAINAGE DAMAGES WHICH ARE CAUSED BY A TAKING AND THE USE TO WHICH A CONDEMNING AUTHORITY INTENDS TO PUT THE PROPERTY?

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT'S AWARD OF ATTORNEYS' FEES FOR SERVICES RENDERED IN THE TRIAL COURT ON BEHALF OF FRENCHMAN SHOULD BE REINSTATED?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On October 19, 1981, DOT filed a petition in eminent domain seeking to acquire 11.756 acres of land owned by Frenchman. (R. 853-864). This strip of land was approximately 95 feet in width and 1 mile long, which was taken by DOT in fee simple for road right-of-way for Alternate A-1-A roadway expansion. (R. 1276-1284). In addition to the land taken in fee simple, DOT also sought and acquired a temporary construction easement on the east side of the land taken which varied in width from 10 to 15 feet. (R. 1276-1284). At the time of the taking, the land acquired was being used as a buffer from the roadway for three holes of the Frenchman's Creek golf courses. (R. 122, 207).

On January 28, 1982, the lower court entered its Order of Taking permitting the DOT to acquire the property. (R. 894-897). Subsequent to the taking, DOT removed all trees and vegetation from the strip of land acquired from Frenchman.

In the trial court, the parties stipulated as to the money to be paid to Frenchman for value of the land taken by the DOT and as to the value of the temporary construction easement. (R. 1276-1284). The total amount awarded to Frenchman, exclusive of interest, for the land taken and the temporary construction easement was \$394,913. (R. 1276-1284). The



parties were unable to agree, however, as to the amount of money to be paid for damages to the remainder property, and the case went to trial before the jury on that issue. Frenchman contended at trial that as a result of the removal of the trees and dense vegetation which had acted as a buffer for the golf courses from Alternate A-1-A, it was necessary to build a substitute buffer on a portion of Frenchman's remainder property at certain points along the three holes and to make various modifications to the golf courses. Frenchman also claimed that the drainage for the golf courses had been damaged as a result of the taking and the use to which the DOT intended to put the land taken.

During its case, Frenchman presented testimony from Robert Cupp, a golf course architect, and Howard Searcy, a drainage engineer, concerning damages to the golf courses caused by the taking and modifications necessary to correct those damages. (R. 199-306; 306-344). Frenchman also presented the testimony of Samuel Holden, a real estate appraiser, who testified regarding the damages to the remainder property. (R. 117-193). DOT presented evidence at trial from Bill Watts, a golf course architect; John Adair, a drainage engineer; and Roy Rood, a landscape architect and nurseryman, concerning the DOT's position about damages sustained by the golf courses due to the taking and the modifications necessary to cure those damages. (R. 446-528, 560-614, 619-643, 644-692). John Hagan, a real estate appraiser, also testified on behalf of DOT. (R. 534-560). The jury, after hearing and reviewing the evidence

and viewing the property, returned an award for damages to the remainder property in favor of Frenchman in the amount of \$190,000. (R. 846).

Subsequent to the jury award, on February 8, 1984, the lower court entered a Final Judgment in favor of Frenchman based upon the jury verdict. (R. 1368-1373). The lower court also assessed, by separate Order, attorneys' fees in favor of Frenchman for services rendered by Frenchman's attorneys in the trial court. (R. 1535-1536).

DOT appealed the Final Judgment and the Attorneys' Fee Judgment to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The Fourth District reversed the Final Judgment and the Attorneys' Fee Judgment.

The grounds for the Fourth District Court of Appeal's reversal of the Final Judgment (each of which are discussed in detail below) were that: Frenchman had employed an improper method of valuation in assessing damages to the remainder property; the damages claimed by Frenchman for loss of view, privacy, seclusion and aesthetics were in this case, noncompensable and Frenchman was not entitled to compensation for its claim for drainage damages. The Attorneys' Fee Judgment was reversed because it had been predicated, in part, on the jury award to Frenchman.

This Court accepted jurisdiction, under Art. V, §3(b)3, Fla. Const. based upon Frenchman's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction.

An Appendix consisting of the decision of the Fourth

District Court of Appeal and of smaller-sized copies of photographs of the golf courses prior to the taking introduced into evidence at trial is attached hereto. The Appendix is cited: (A. \_\_\_).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The Constitutional guarantee of full compensation under Art. X, §6(a) Fla. Const. does not require that a before and after valuation approach measuring the reduction in fair market value caused by the taking be used before a landowner is allowed to collect damages to his remainder property. Rather, as this Court has previously stated, all valuation methods are merely tools to assist in determining what is full or just compensation. The proper valuation method or methods for any given case are inextricably bound up with the particular circumstances of the case. In the circumstances of the case at bar, where the evidence adduced at trial by both parties demonstrated that Frenchman's remaining property had been damaged by the taking, that the taking was unique, and that the cost to cure those damages awarded by the jury would not enhance the value of the remainder property after the taking, Frenchman was entitled to receive those damages as part of the Constitutional guarantee of full compensation.

Full compensation for the taking of property must be determined by equitable principles and its measure varies with the facts. Under the facts of the instant case, it is clear that Frenchman's remainder property which was being used as

golf course property had been damaged by the removal of the buffer and alteration of the drainage which existed prior to the DOT's taking of the property. Accordingly, under both the theory and spirit of the full compensation clause itself, as well as this Court's decisions, Frenchman should be allowed to receive the compensation awarded by the jury for the cost of providing a substitute buffer after the DOT had taken and destroyed its excellent existing buffer. In this regard, it is important to note that the testimony was uncontroverted that the award of those damages for a new substitute buffer would in no way enhance the value of the golf courses after the taking.

II. Frenchman should be allowed to collect the damages awarded by the jury which were based upon loss of view, privacy, seclusion, aesthetics, strategic value, maintenance and safety. The Fourth District Court of Appeal improperly reevaluated and reassessed the jury's determination with regard to the damages caused by the taking in finding that Frenchman's property was not secluded prior to the taking. To the contrary, the undisputed evidence adduced at trial demonstrated both the privacy and aesthetic qualities possessed by the property prior to the taking and removal of the buffer by DOT and further showed that the strategic value, maintenance and safety factors had been adversely affected by the taking.

III. Frenchman should be entitled to collect the damages to cure the drainage problem caused by the taking. Contrary to the Fourth District's decision, Frenchman was not attempting to collect drainage damages resulting from the negligence or

misconduct of DOT in performing the construction which was the object of the taking. Rather, Frenchman's testimony demonstrated that, as a result of the taking and the use to which the property taken was being put by DOT, it was necessary to make drainage modifications to the golf courses in order to alleviate the drainage problems caused by the taking. (R. 314-315).

Both the Final Judgment entered by the trial court, and the Attorneys' Fee Judgment, should be reinstated by this Court.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I.

A LANDOWNER IS ENTITLED IN AN EMINENT DOMAIN PROCEEDING TO RECEIVE FULL COMPENSATION FOR DAMAGES TO ITS REMAINDER PROPERTY BY EMPLOYING A COST TO CURE METHOD IN MEASURING THOSE DAMAGES WITHOUT THE NECESSITY OF FIRST PRESENTING EVIDENCE SHOWING THE REDUCTION IN VALUE OF THE REMAINDER PROPERTY THROUGH COMPARISON OF THE BEFORE AND AFTER TAKING FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE PROPERTY: A) WHEN THE EVIDENCE DEMONSTRATES THAT THE TAKING OF THE PROPERTY INVOLVED WAS UNIQUE, B) WHEN THE EVIDENCE FURTHER SHOWS THAT THE REMAINDER PROPERTY HAS BEEN DAMAGED BY THE TAKING, AND C) WHEN THE AWARD OF SUCH COST TO CURE DAMAGES DOES NOT ENHANCE THE VALUE OF THE REMAINDER PROPERTY SUBSEQUENT TO THE TAKING.

In the case sub judice, the Fourth District reversed the jury verdict and Final Judgment which had been entered in favor of Frenchman for damages to Frenchman's remaining property due to the Court's reasoning that Frenchman's appraiser had not employed a proper valuation method in assessing damages to the remainder property. In its decision, the Fourth District

stated that because Frenchman did not first present evidence that it sustained severance damages, it was error to admit testimony on the cost to cure the damages to the golf courses by building a substitute buffer on a portion of the remaining land of Frenchman. (A. 4). The basis for the Court's holding was that the conventional manner of measuring severance damages to the remainder property is by determining the reduction in value of the remainder property caused by the taking, which, in turn is calculated by comparing the pre-condemnation and post-condemnation fair market values of the property. (A. 3). The Fourth District reasoned that because Mr. Holden, Frenchman's appraiser, did not state what the reduction in fair market value of the property was, that it was impermissible for Mr. Holden to testify as to the costs involved to cure the taking.

In analyzing the correctness of the Fourth District's holding that the valuation method used by Mr. Holden was improper, Frenchman respectfully submits to the Court that it is extremely important to consider the following testimony of Mr. Holden which was presented at trial:

1. He has been a real estate appraiser for 44 years. (R. 117-118);

2. He had performed at least a dozen prior appraisals on golf courses. (R. 120);

3. The strip of land taken by the DOT contained many hundreds of trees and dense shrubs which acted as a buffer to the golf courses. (R. 122-123);

4. That he had reviewed whether or not the remaining golf course property immediately adjacent to the taking would be damaged as a result of the condemnation action and determined that there would be damages due to the loss of the trees and shrubs acting as a buffer and that drainage problems would be caused by the taking. (R. 126-127);

5. That in order to determine the extent of the damages to the golf courses he had consulted with a golf course architect and drainage engineer. (R. 133);

6. That he had attempted to determine the amount of severance damages by conducting sale searches of comparable golf courses but found no comparable sales. (R. 133-135). That is, he found no golf courses that had lost a buffer shielding a golf course from a roadway so as to enable him to perform a comparable sales analysis. (On page 4 of its Opinion, the Fourth District agrees that the "market" or comparable sales approach was not available in this case because the property was unique) (A. 4).

7. That he was not able to appraise damages to the remainder property by the income method because the property was unique in the sense of being a golf course and the effect would not be known from an income approach for several years after the taking, and furthermore, a sales search did not reveal any golf courses which were similarly damaged to see how it effected their income record. (R. 134-135, 192-193); (On page 4 of its Opinion, the Fourth District agrees that the income approach is also inapplicable to this situation.) (A. 4).

8. That he had spoken to a potential purchaser of the Frenchman property who had advised him that his company would not buy the property until the damages to the golf courses had been cured. (R. 167);

9. That in this case the only method to utilize to calculate the damages was by employment of the cost to cure method and that he had spoken with other real estate appraisers who confirmed that the cost to cure method would be the only appropriate way to appraise the damages in this case. (R. 136);

10. That the proposal made on behalf of Frenchman for a substitute buffer and drainage modifications made by the golf course architect and drainage engineer would not make the golf courses as good as they were before the taking, rather, the golf courses would be lesser golf courses than before the taking and loss of the original buffer. (R. 163, 192);

In addition to Mr. Holden's appraisal testimony concerning damages to the golf courses, Robert Cupp, a golf course architect, testified as to how the golf courses would be damaged by removal of the buffer, and Howard Searcy, a drainage engineer, testified as to how the courses would be damaged due to the flow and ponding of surface water caused by the taking, and the intended use of the DOT as demonstrated by the project plans which the DOT offered in evidence. (DOT's Exhibits #3 and #4 separately packaged by the Clerk of the trial court in a brown roll.) Both witnesses also testified to the costs involved to cure those damages. Mr. Cupp opined that the buffer that had been taken by the DOT was important to the



courses and that the courses had been substantially damaged as a result of the elimination of the buffer. (R. 207). Mr. Cupp testified in detail as to his proposed modifications of the golf courses and that he was attempting to put important aspects of sight, seclusion and containment which had been lost because of the taking back into the courses. (R. 215). Mr. Searcy who had examined the DOT construction plans to determine the precise intended use of the property taken testified that the DOT construction of an elevated bike path on part of the acquired right-of-way above the remaining golf courses changed the flow of water and was the cause of drainage damages to the golf courses, and Searcy opined that in order to cure the drainage problem it was necessary to make drainage modifications to the courses. (R. 313-315). Mr. Searcy unquestionably testified that it would have been unnecessary to undertake any of those modifications which he proposed if the taking and proposed use and change of the flow of surface water on the remaining golf courses had not occurred. (R. 706).

In addition to Frenchman's own witnesses, the DOT golf course architect, Bill Watts, and the DOT drainage engineer, John Adair, also testified as to costs to restore the property to the condition it was in prior to the taking. In this regard, Watts testified that the golf courses had been damaged because after the taking they were closer to the roadway and there was no longer anything to block the view of the traffic on Alternate A-I-A. (R. 456-458). Mr. Watts' recommendation was that hedges, trees and a cypress fence be used to cure the

problem. (R. 460-461, 483-484). Mr. Watts also testified to the necessity and costs for moving the green for hole 4 north and a canal to the east and for moving a golf cart path. (R. 480-481, 491-492), as well as to the costs of his other proposals to restore the buffer taken. (R. 479-484). During the course of his testimony, Mr. Adair testified as to drainage costs due to the taking. (R. 591-592). Additionally, the DOT offered at trial the testimony of Roy Rood, a registered landscape architect, contractor and nurseryman, who had done substantial work on golf courses. (R. 645-647). Mr. Rood testified that the buffer which was taken contained several hundreds and perhaps even a thousand trees, and that the buffer taken was a "great buffer". (R. 669-670). Mr. Rood further testified there was now a real problem in the sense of not having that strip of buffer anymore. (R. 670). Additionally, Mr. Rood, the DOT's own witness, confirmed that the berming method proposed by Robert Cupp as a substitute buffer was a better method than the oleander hedge proposed by Mr. Watts. (R. 678-679). Mr. Rood was also asked whether or not Mr. Cupp's proposal would completely replace the loss of the 100-foot strip of buffer with the plantings on it, and he replied that only some part of the buffer would be replaced and that the buffer would not be replaced in the same way as before. (R. 658-661).

In addition to the foregoing testimony, DOT also called to testify at trial Mr. John Hagan, a real estate appraiser. Mr. Hagan stated that the trees lying within the right-of-way

served as a buffer between the roadway and the golf courses. (R. 551). Mr. Hagan further acknowledged that he had never made an appraisal before regarding damages to a golf course as a result of trees being taken and that this was a unique case from the standpoint of this property. (R. 551-552). It was additionally admitted by Mr. Hagan that he had contacted Bill Watts to see whether or not there might be some cost to cure damages to the golf courses which needed to be mitigated and that in response to his request he received a letter dated April 14, 1981, containing Watts's estimate with regard to costs to cure the golf courses. (R. 552). At trial, Watts testified to those cost to cure estimates. (R. 480-484). Mr. Hagan additionally admitted during the course of his testimony that he did not do an appraisal of severance damages to the golf course improvements to the land because that was not within the scope of his assignment by the DOT. (R. 546). Therefore, based upon the undisputed facts in the record before the Court, it is clear that Mr. Hagan did not even attempt to make an appraisal of severance damages as to the golf course improvements, but nonetheless, requested and received from Mr. Watts cost to cure estimates for damages to the golf courses, which estimates were testified to at trial by Mr. Watts. Accordingly, Mr. Holden's testimony, as cited in detail above was undisputed in terms of the appraisal methodology employed by Mr. Holden to arrive at the damages to the remainder property.

Based upon the testimony adduced at trial by the DOT as well as Frenchman, the undisputed evidence showed that the golf courses had been damaged as a result of the taking in this case. Furthermore, the undisputed evidence was that the proposals to cure the damage, both by Frenchman and the DOT, would not enhance the value of the property, nor could those proposals completely restore the property to the condition it was in prior to the taking. In fact, in his opening statement to the jury, counsel for the DOT acknowledged what a fine golf course Frenchman's Creek was and stated to the jury that there was nothing that could be built that would totally eliminate the problem which was caused by the taking. (R. 79-80). Counsel for the DOT argued to the jury that what was proposed by DOT was at least as adequate as what was proposed by Frenchman and was satisfactory and in character with the golf courses. (R. 79-80). Based upon the foregoing evidence, the jury returned its verdict in favor of Frenchman for \$190,000.

Despite the foregoing, the Fourth District overturned the jury award by reversing the Final Judgment on the basis that an improper valuation approach had been used because Frenchman did not first present evidence that it had sustained severance damages by showing the reduction in value of the remainder property through comparison of the before and after taking fair market value of the property.

Frenchman respectfully submits that the Fourth District's ruling as to the necessity of first showing severance damages by demonstrating the reduction in value of the remainder

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