IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

0/9 9-9-86

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For the purposes of this brief, the following symbols shall be utilized:

"R" refers to the Record on Appeal as submitted by the Clerk of the Circuit Court;

A" refers to the Appendix accompanying this brief.

I

I

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATION, STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts with the following exception:

On Page 3 of its Initial Brief, Petitioner's statement that one of the grounds for the Fourth District Court of Appeal's reversal of the Final Judgment was that "Frenchman had employed an improper method of valuation in assessing damages to the remainder property" is incorrect. Rather, the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal states that Frenchman failed to establish its severance damage claim. (A: 5).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At the trial below, Petitioner's only evidence of severance damages was based upon a cost to cure approach to valuation. However, the concept of cost to cure is merely a mitigation of severance damages - it does not establish severance damages. Thus Petitioner erred in failing to establish any severance damages before analyzing the cost to cure, not because it failed to follow any particular method of valuation.

Petitioner's alleged damages due to traffic visibility, noise, fumes and dust, and aesthetic loss are noncompensable in the instant cause because such "proximity damages" may only be recovered when a landowner has been substantially ousted or denied all beneficial use of the remaining property. The highest and best use of the property remains the same both before and after the taking.

Petitioner did not clearly show that the drainage problems were a result of the taking and the highway widening. To be recovered in an eminent domain proceeding, damages caused by the flow of water must result from the taking; a legal threshold that the District Court found Petitioner had failed to cross.

Attorney's fees at the trial court level should not be determined until the final outcome of the case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT PETITIONER MUST ESTABLISH SEVERANCE DAMAGES AS A PREDICATE TO THE ADMISSIBILITY OF COST TO CURE TESTIMONY.

The central issue in this appeal is whether in an eminent domain proceeding the cost to cure the damage to the remainder property may be utilized by the landowner to establish severance damages. It is a basic tenet in Florida eminent domain law that an owner is entitled to be compensated for damages to the remaining land caused by the taking. These damages are referred to as severance damages and "they are measured by the reduction in value of the remaining property." Kendry v. Division of Administration, State of Florida Department of Transportation, 366 So.2d 391, 393 (Fla. 1978); Mulkey v. Division of Administration, State of Florida Department of Transportation, 448 So.2d 1062, 1065 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); Canney v. City of St. Petersburg, 466 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985). The general rule for calculating severance damages is the "before and after" rule which establishes severance damages as the difference between the value of the property before and after the taking. Canney, supra; Mulkey, supra.

The concept of "cost to cure" has developed in the field of eminent domain as a theory of mitigation of severance damages. As discussed in the leading treatise on eminent domain:

Evidence of damage falls into two classes:

(1) Evidence of the decrease in market value of the owner's land as it stands on account of the construction of the public work;

(2) Evidence of the cost of restoring the injured property to the same relative position to the public work in which it stood before its construction.

Inasmuch as the measure of damages is the decrease in market value of the land, and the trained judgment of the market in determining value would take into consideration the possibility of restoring the damaged property as far as possible to the same relative position in which it stood before the taking if the cost of such restoration would be less than the increase in market value which it would bring to the land, the condemnor is entitled to the adoption of the criterion of damage which produces the smaller result. Consequently, evidence of the cost of restoring the property as far as possible to its original relative position, when offered by the owner, is admissible only when there is also evidence that such cost is no greater in amount than the decrease in market value of the property if it is left as it stood. When the owner relies upon evidence of a decrease in market value of the property as it is left by the taking, the condemnor may show the cost of restoring the property to its former relative position. In any event, the condemnee is not entitled to the cost of restoration in addition to an award for the difference in the before and after value. 5, Nichols on Eminent Domain, 3rd Ed., Sec. 23.2; See also: 4A, Nichols on Eminent Domain, 3rd Ed., Sec. 14.04.

The noted predicate to the admission of such cost to cure evidence is that such cost must be no greater in amount than the decrease in market value of the property if it were left as it stood after the taking.

In <u>City of Columbus v. Zanes</u>, 201 N.E.2d 837 (Ohio Ct.App. 1971), the court provided the following as what it described as a "pointed and appropriate example of the operation of the 'cost to cure' rule":

> In the illustrative hypothetical, a difference in before-and-after value of \$1,000 is suggested, but an expenditure of \$100, would, it is assumed, restore the affected property to its former value. Clearly the damage done would be \$100. <u>Id</u>. at 840.

This principle was first discussed in Florida in <u>Hill v.</u> <u>Marion County</u>, 238 So.2d 163 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970). Without passing upon the question of whether the rule quoted above from <u>Nichols</u> was the rule in Florida, the court went on to hold that the rule would not preclude the admission of cost to cure evidence offered by the owner:

> . . . because there was evidence before the jury that the decrease in the market value of the property was greater than the loss under the 'cost to cure approach' . . . " Id. at 166.

In <u>Hill</u> the cost to cure testimony, in the amount of \$9,627.15, was less than the \$10,000 decrease in market value of the remainder testified to by the owner. <u>Id</u>. at 166.

Since the <u>Hill</u> decision was issued, a number of other Florida decisions reflect the frequent use of the cost to cure approach in eminent domain proceedings but do not discuss the issue presented in this cause. See: <u>Rice v. City of Ft</u>. <u>Lauderdale</u>, 281 So.2d 36 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973); <u>Whitehead v.</u>

<u>Florida Power and Light Company</u>, 318 So.2d 154 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975); <u>Division of Administration</u>, <u>State of Florida Department of</u> <u>Transportation v. West Palm Beach Garden Club</u>, 352 So.2d 1177 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> July 18, 1978; <u>Division of</u> <u>Administration</u>, <u>State of Florida Department of Transportation v.</u> Saemann, 399 So.2d 359 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981).

However, in <u>Mulkey v. Division of Administration</u>, <u>State</u> of <u>Florida Department of Transportation</u>, 448 So.2d 1062 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984), the court, after recognizing that severance damages are measured by the reduction in value of the remaining property went on to state that:

> . . . the courts have recognized that this general measurement of damages may be replaced by a cost-to-cure approach in instances where such cost is less than the decreased value of the remainder. <u>Id</u>. at 1065.

Also, in the recent case of <u>Canney v. City of St.</u> <u>Petersburg</u>, 466 So.2d 1193 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), the court categorized "cost to cure" as simply a method for reducing severance damages. The holding in <u>Mulkey</u> and <u>Canney</u> that severance damages must be established as a predicate to the admission of cost to cure testimony is generally accepted around the country. <u>See Department of Transportation of State of</u> <u>Illinois v. Hsueh</u>, 117 Ill.App.3d 945, 454 N.E.2d 360, 361-362 (Ill. App.Ct. 1983); <u>Accurate Die Casting Company v. City of</u> <u>Cleveland</u>, 442 N.E.2d 459, 465 (Ohio Ct.App. 1981); <u>City of</u> <u>Columbus v. Farm Bureau Coop</u>. <u>Assn.</u>, 27 Ohio App.2d 197, 273

N.E.2d 888, 892 (Ohio Ct.App. 1971); Wakeman v. Commissioner of Transportation, 177 Conn. 432, 418 A.2d 78, 80-81 (Conn. 1979); State of New Jersey By The Commissioner of Transportation v. Sun Oil Company, 160 N.J. Super. 513, 390 A.2d 661, 671 (N.J. Super.Ct. 1978); State Highway and Transportation Commissioner v. Allmond, 257 S.E.2d 832, 836 (Va. 1979); Hewitt v. State, 54 A.D.2d 812, 388 N.Y.S.2d 680 (N.Y.App.Div. 1976); State of Utah v. Fox, 30 Utah 2d 194, 515 P.2d 450 (Utah 1973); Tunison v. Multnomah County, 445 P.2d 498, 499 (Oregon 1968); City of Tucson v. Farness, 19 Ariz.App. 458, 508 P.2d 345, 346-347 (Ariz. Ct.App. 1973). But see Runser v. City of Waterville, 355 A.2d 744 (Maine 1976), where the court, while recognizing the cost to cure concept and the required predicate, went on to sustain an award where the owner's appraisal witness did not express an opinion of the decrease in value of the remaining property. Id. at 750-751.

In the cause at hand, the owner was allowed, over objection, to claim damages in excess of \$380,000. These "damages" were the cost estimates of what it would take, in the opinion of the owners' experts, to restore that portion of the golf course affected by the taking. This was allowed even though the owner failed to establish severance damages, that is "the reduction in value of the remaining property." <u>Kendry</u>, <u>supra</u> at 393. The burden of proof of such severance damages was clearly upon the landowner. <u>City of Fort Lauderdale v. Casino Realty</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 313 So.2d 649 (Fla. 1975); <u>County of Volusia v. Niles</u>, 445

So.2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); <u>Division of Administration</u>, <u>State</u> of Florida Department of Transportation v. Saemann, supra.

Of equal importance is the fact that even assuming Petitioner's remaining property has suffered a reduction in value, Petitioner has failed to establish that the proposed cost to cure was less than the reduction in value of the remaining property if it were left as it stood after the taking. This predicate is required before cost to cure testimony is to be considered.

Petitioner contents that the central premise of the cost to cure rule, that such cost must be less than the decrease in market value, was not violated since the "evidence was that the proposals to cure the damage...would not enhance the value of the property, nor could those proposals completely restore the property to the condition it was in prior to the taking." (Petitioner's Initial Brief, p. 13). However, the depositive question is not whether the cost to cure made the golf course itself any better than it was before the taking, but rather, whether the amount of the "cure" exceeds the decrease in market value. It is of little value to point out that witnesses opined the golf course was damaged, when those opinions are not converted to a monetary figure reflecting the decrease in market value. Not a single witness in the proceedings below testified that the \$380,000 cost to cure was less than the decrease in market value caused by the taking. As such, the jury and the courts are left to speculate on the viability of Petitioner's

damage claim. The courts of this State have been quick to reject speculative evidence in an eminent domain proceeding. <u>Yoder v.</u> <u>Sarasota County</u>, 81 So.2d 219, 221 (Fla. 1955); <u>Coral-Glade Co.</u> <u>v. Board of Public Instruction of Dade County</u>, 122 So.2d 587 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1960).

In the instructions given by the trial court, the jury was specifically instructed that they should put the owner "in as good a position financially as he would have been if the property had not been taken." (R: 834). However, since the owner's financial loss caused by the taking was never quantified, the jury was left to speculate on the compensation due the Petitioner, contrary to established principles of law.

Petitioner's reliance on the decisions of <u>Jacksonville</u> <u>Expressway Authority v. Hendry G. DuPree Co.</u>, 108 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1958), and <u>Dade County v. General Waterworks Corp.</u>, 267 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1972), for the position that it was justified in departing from the general rules of property valuation are not justified in the instant cause. The situation in the cause at hand is clearly not comparable to the setting in <u>DuPree</u> or <u>General Waterworks</u> <u>Corp.</u>

In <u>DuPree</u>, the issue concerned the compensability of moving costs which would not be reflected in the traditional market value analysis of the real estate. Because the constitutional guarantee of full compensation requires a practical attempt to make the owner whole, departure from the fair market value concept was justified. To the same effect was

the decision of <u>Dade County v. General Waterworks Corp.</u>, <u>supra</u>. In that case Dade County was attempting to acquire a complete water and sewer system. The issues did not involve the valuation of a parcel of real estate, but a much more complicated problem.

The burden of proof on the issue of severance damges was clearly on the owner. It was also its burden to justify a departure from the general standard of fair market value. In this cause there was no justification. Petitioner's own appraiser recognized that the proper method of valuation was to analyze the value of the property before and after the taking (R: 135), and also stated that any cost of curing damages should be less than the actual severance damage occuring. (R: 135) The witness acknowledged the three basic approaches to market valuation (comparable sale or market data approach; income approach; cost approach), but attempted to apply only one. Ιn the one he did attempt to apply (comparable sales approach), the witness stated that he looked at sales of golf course properties but couldn't find one exactly like the one in the cause at hand. (R: 135) The witness failed to explain the noncomparable features of the sales he did look at and why, with proper adjustments, the sales could not have been utilized. Petitioner was required to meet this burden of proof before departing from the standard method of valuing property.

The witness' excuse for not utilizing the income approach was that sufficient time had not passed to determine if the income was affected by the taking even though two years had

already elapsed between the date of the taking (February 10, 1982) and the date of the trial (January, 1984). Also, the witness arrived at this conclusion even though he had made no attempt to examine the books of the golf course. (R: 156-157, 165). Once again the Petitioner failed to give a reasonable justification for departing from the general standard of property valuation. This argument would also discredit the use of the income approach in any eminent domain case, since it always involves an estimate of future loss of value to the property.

Finally, Petitioner's witness made no comment why he didn't attempt to utilize the "cost approach" to valuation. This approach is one of three recognized approaches to valuation. In <u>McNayr v. Claughton</u>, 198 So.2d 366 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1967) the court stated:

The cost approach to value is:

[t]hat approach in appraisal analysis which is based on the proposition that the informed purchaser would pay no more than the cost of producing a substitute property with the same utility as the subject property. It is particularly applicable when the property being appraised involves relatively new improvements which represent the highest and best use of the land or when relatively unique or specialized improvements are located on the site and for which there exist no comparable properties on the market.

The major steps in applying the cost approach are: 1) estimate the reproduction (or replacement) cost of the improvements as of the date of appraisal, 2) estimate the amount of depreciation present in the improvements, 3) deduct total depreciation from the estimated reproduction cost to arrive at an indicated value of the improvements as of the date of appraisal, and 4) add the estimated value of the land to the indicated improvement value to arrive at an indication of total market value. J.E. Eaton, <u>Real Estate Valuation Litigation</u>, Ch. 7, p. 101.

In summary, Petitioner's witness offered nothing to justify departure from the fair market value standard except unsubstantiated excuses. Petitioner failed to meet the burden of proof required for such a departure. To sustain the approach used by Petitioner's witness in this cause opens the door for a witness to take the witness stand and "claim," without any underlying support, he could not utilize the standard approaches to valuation and thus his alternative approach to valuation is justified.

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